



# User Guide for Cisco IP Phone Messenger Release 8.0, 8.5, and 8.6

May 15, 2012

#### **Americas Headquarters**

Cisco Systems, Inc. 170 West Tasman Drive San Jose, CA 95134-1706 USA

http://www.cisco.com Tel: 408 526-4000 800 553-NETS (6387)

Fax: 408 527-0883

THE SPECIFICATIONS AND INFORMATION REGARDING THE PRODUCTS IN THIS MANUAL ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE. ALL STATEMENTS, INFORMATION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS IN THIS MANUAL ARE BELIEVED TO BE ACCURATE BUT ARE PRESENTED WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. USERS MUST TAKE FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR APPLICATION OF ANY PRODUCTS.

THE SOFTWARE LICENSE AND LIMITED WARRANTY FOR THE ACCOMPANYING PRODUCT ARE SET FORTH IN THE INFORMATION PACKET THAT SHIPPED WITH THE PRODUCT AND ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY THIS REFERENCE. IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO LOCATE THE SOFTWARE LICENSE OR LIMITED WARRANTY, CONTACT YOUR CISCO REPRESENTATIVE FOR A COPY.

The Cisco implementation of TCP header compression is an adaptation of a program developed by the University of California, Berkeley (UCB) as part of UCB's public domain version of the UNIX operating system. All rights reserved. Copyright © 1981, Regents of the University of California.

NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER WARRANTY HEREIN, ALL DOCUMENT FILES AND SOFTWARE OF THESE SUPPLIERS ARE PROVIDED "AS IS" WITH ALL FAULTS. CISCO AND THE ABOVE-NAMED SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THOSE OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT OR ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICE.

IN NO EVENT SHALL CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS OR LOSS OR DAMAGE TO DATA ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THIS MANUAL, EVEN IF CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

CCDE, CCENT, CCSI, Cisco Eos, Cisco Explorer, Cisco HealthPresence, Cisco IronPort, the Cisco logo, Cisco Nurse Connect, Cisco Pulse, Cisco SensorBase, Cisco StackPower, Cisco StadiumVision, Cisco TelePresence, Cisco TrustSec, Cisco Unified Computing System, Cisco WebEx, DCE, Flip Channels, Flip for Good, Flip Mino, Flipshare (Design), Flip Ultra, Flip Video, Flip Video (Design), Instant Broadband, and Welcome to the Human Network are trademarks; Changing the Way We Work, Live, Play, and Learn, Cisco Capital, Cisco Capital (Design), Cisco:Financed (Stylized), Cisco Store, Flip Gift Card, and One Million Acts of Green are service marks; and Access Registrar, Aironet, AllTouch, AsyncOS, Bringing the Meeting To You, Catalyst, CCDA, CCDP, CCIP, CCNA, CCNP, CCSP, CCVP, Cisco, the Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert logo, Cisco IOS, Cisco Lumin, Cisco Nexus, Cisco Press, Cisco Systems, Cisco Systems Capital, the Cisco Systems logo, Cisco Unity, Collaboration Without Limitation, Continuum, EtherFast, EtherSwitch, Event Center, Explorer, Follow Me Browsing, GainMaker, iLYNX, IOS, iPhone, IronPort, the IronPort logo, Laser Link, LightStream, Linksys, MeetingPlace, Meet

Cisco and the Cisco logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of Cisco and/or its affiliates in the U.S. and other countries. To view a list of Cisco trademarks, go to this URL: <a href="https://www.cisco.com/go/trademarks">www.cisco.com/go/trademarks</a>. Third-party trademarks mentioned are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (1110R)

Any Internet Protocol (IP) addresses used in this document are not intended to be actual addresses. Any examples, command display output, and figures included in the document are shown for illustrative purposes only. Any use of actual IP addresses in illustrative content is unintentional and coincidental.

User Guide for Cisco IP Phone Messenger Release 8.0, 8.5, and 8.6

© 2012 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.



### CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1	Getting Started with Cisco IP Phone Messenger 1-9
CHAPIER I	About Cisco IP Phone Messenger 1-9
	How To Access Cisco IP Phone Messenger 1-10
	<u> </u>
	Configuring the Session Timer 1-11
	Tips for Entering Text on the Phone 1-12
CHAPTER 2	Organizing Your Contacts 2-21
	How to Add Contacts to Your Contact List 2-21
	Deleting Contacts From Your Contact List 2-23
	Viewing Your Contact List 2-24
	Configuring the Contact List Refresh Timer 2-24
	Displaying the Availability of a Contact <b>2-25</b>
CHAPTER 3	Configuring Your Meeting Settings 3-37
	Turning On Meeting Notifications 3-37
	Displaying Scheduled Meetings and Participants 3-38
	Joining Meetings and Scheduling Meeting Callbacks 3-38
	Sending and Receiving Meeting Reminders <b>3-39</b>
CHAPTER 4	Managing Your Messages 4-29
	How To View Your Messages 4-29
	How To Handle Incoming Messages 4-31
	Replying to a Message 4-32
	Sending a Message 4-32
	Deleting Messages 4-33
	Viewing Your Personal Response Messages 4-34
CHAPTER 5	Troubleshooting Cisco IP Phone Messenger 5-43
	Error Messages 5-43

Common Issues 5-44

Contents



CHAPTER

# **Getting Started with Cisco IP Phone Messenger**

#### May 15, 2012

- About Cisco IP Phone Messenger, page 1-9
- How To Access Cisco IP Phone Messenger, page 1-10
- Configuring the Session Timer, page 1-11
- Tips for Entering Text on the Phone, page 1-12

# **About Cisco IP Phone Messenger**

The Cisco IP Phone Messenger service is an application that runs on your Cisco Unified IP phone. You use Cisco IP Phone Messenger to communicate with your coworkers using text-based instant messaging on your Cisco Unified IP phone. Your system administrator must assign Cisco IP Phone Messenger to a phone before you can access it.

Cisco IP Phone Messenger lets you manage your instant messages and contacts on a Cisco Unified IP Phone in the following ways:

- Create a contact list.
- Set your privacy (availability) status for all devices.
- Send instant messages to coworkers on your contact list.
- Set notification preferences for incoming messages.
- View the availability status of coworkers who are using Cisco IP Phone Messenger.
- Customize access and display of your messages.
- View and join scheduled daily meetings.

You can perform some of the tasks described here using the Cisco Unified Presence User Options web interface. See the *User Guide for Cisco Unified Presence* for details.

#### **Related Topics**

User Guide for Cisco Unified Presence
 http://www.cisco.com/en/US/products/ps6837/products\_user\_guide\_list.html

## **How To Access Cisco IP Phone Messenger**

- Signing In To Cisco IP Phone Messenger, page 1-10
- Signing Out of Cisco IP Phone Messenger, page 1-11

### **Signing In To Cisco IP Phone Messenger**

You sign in to Cisco IP Phone Messenger by entering your PIN and, in some cases, your user ID. If the phone is not assigned to you, you will require your user ID to sign in.

Typically, you cannot sign in to Cisco IP Phone Messenger on a phone that is assigned to another user: your PIN will not work with the user ID of another user. The exception is if the phone has Extension Mobility configured on it, in which case you can sign in to Extension Mobility and then sign in to Cisco IP Phone Messenger.

If you are already signed in to Cisco IP Phone Messenger on another phone, an alert will display when you attempt to sign in. You must respond to this alert before you can sign in:

- Select Yes to sign out of other phones automatically, or
- Select **No** to remain signed in to other phones.



When you are signed in to multiple phones simultaneously, all instant messages appear on each phone, which might be a privacy concern.

#### **Before You Begin**

- Obtain your Cisco IP Phone Messenger PIN from your system administrator.
- Obtain your Cisco IP Phone Messenger user ID from your system administrator (if required).

#### **Procedure**

**Step 1** Select > **Phone Messenger** (or similar name) on the Cisco Unified IP phone.



Your system administrator can customize the name of the Cisco IP Phone Messenger service, so confirm the name of the service that is used in your organization.

- **Step 2** Enter your PIN and user ID (if requested).
- Step 3 Press Submit.

#### **Related Topics**

• Tips for Entering Text on the Phone, page 1-12

### **Signing Out of Cisco IP Phone Messenger**

If the phone is not assigned to you, you will **not** require your PIN to sign out of Cisco IP Phone Messenger. For increased security you can configure the unassigned phone to sign you out automatically.

#### **Procedure**

- **Step 1** Press **Logout** from the main menu of Cisco IP Phone Messenger.
- **Step 2** Enter your PIN (if requested).
- **Step 3** Press **Yes** to sign out.

#### **Related Topics**

- Configuring the Session Timer, page 1-11
- Tips for Entering Text on the Phone, page 1-12

# **Configuring the Session Timer**

If your phone is not assigned to you, for example, if you share a phone with others, you may want the phone to automatically sign you out of the Cisco IP Phone Messenger service for increased security. Configure the session timer as described here and the phone will sign you out of Cisco IP Phone Messenger when the session timer expires.

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Settings.
- **Step 2** Use the Navigation button to scroll to Session Timer, and press **Select**.
- **Step 3** Enter a value from 1-9999 (in minutes).
- Step 4 Press Submit.

# **Tips for Entering Text on the Phone**

When you compose an instant message or enter a user ID to add a contact to your contact list, use the Cisco Unified IP phone dial pad to enter letters, numbers, and other characters. You press a key once to select the first available character on the key, twice to select the second available character, three times to select the third available character, and so on.

For example, you press the 2 key once for a, twice for b, three time for c, and four times for 2.

Key	Characters
1	1! ':;^
2	a b c 2 A B C
3	def3DEF
4	g h i 4 G H I
5	j k l 5 J K L
6	m n o 6 M N O
7	pqrs7PQRS
8	t u v 8 T U V
9	w x y z 9 W X Y Z
0	0 = , <space></space>
*	.@ ~ * & %
#	# + \$ <euro symbol=""> £ \</euro>



CHAPTER 2

# **Organizing Your Contacts**

#### May 15, 2012

- How to Add Contacts to Your Contact List, page 2-21
- Deleting Contacts From Your Contact List, page 2-24
- Viewing Your Contact List, page 2-24
- Configuring the Contact List Refresh Timer, page 2-25
- Displaying the Availability of a Contact, page 2-25

### **How to Add Contacts to Your Contact List**

You can add a contact by user ID or by extension number. You can also add contacts by message sender when coworkers who are not on your contact list send you an instant message. You can only add contacts to your contact list if they have a valid user ID or extension number within your organization.

Your system administrator sets the number of contacts you can have on your list, with a maximum of 200. Contact your system administrator to verify the contact limit on your phone.

If you add or remove a contact from your instant messaging application like Cisco Jabber, or from the Cisco Unified Presence User Option pages, you will not see this update on your contact list on your phone until you sign out and sign back in to Cisco IP Phone Messenger. Similarly, if your administrator adds or removes a user on the system, and that user is a contact on your contact list, you will not see this update on your contact list on your phone until you sign out and sign back in to Cisco IP Phone Messenger.

- Adding a Contact by User ID, page 2-21
- Adding a Contact by Extension Number, page 2-22
- Adding a Contact by Message Sender, page 2-23

### Adding a Contact by User ID

#### **Before You Begin**

Obtain the user ID of the contact that you want to add to your contact list.

#### Restrictions

• The user ID and nickname fields accept a maximum of 255 characters.

• You can only have one nickname per contact.

#### **Procedure**

- **Step 1** Select > Phone Messenger > Contacts.
- Step 2 Press Add.
- **Step 3** Enter the following information:
  - **a.** Enter a valid user ID for the contact (required).
  - **b.** Enter a nickname for the contact (optional).
- Step 4 Press Submit.

#### **Related Topics**

- Tips for Entering Text on the Phone, page 1-12
- Adding a Contact by Extension Number, page 2-22
- Adding a Contact by Message Sender, page 2-23
- Viewing Your Contact List, page 2-24

### **Adding a Contact by Extension Number**



- The extension number and nickname fields accept a maximum of 255 characters.
- You can only have one nickname per contact.

#### **Before You Begin**

- Obtain the extension number of the contact that you want to add to your contact list.
- Read the topic on tips for entering text on the phone.

- **Step 1** Select > Phone Messenger > Contacts.
- Step 2 Press AddbyExt.
- **Step 3** Enter the following information:
  - **a.** Enter the extension number for the contact (required).
  - **b.** Enter a nickname for the contact (optional).
- Step 4 Press Submit.

#### **Troubleshooting Tips**

• In Cisco Unified Presence Release 8.6, you can only add contacts with valid extension numbers. If you mistype or enter an extension number for a contact who is outside your geographic area, you will receive an error message. You can either return to your contact list or enter a different extension number. You can also add the same contact by user ID. The geographic limitation does not exist for user IDs.

#### **Related Topics**

- Tips for Entering Text on the Phone, page 1-12
- Adding a Contact by User ID, page 2-21
- Adding a Contact by Message Sender, page 2-23
- Viewing Your Contact List, page 2-24

### **Adding a Contact by Message Sender**

Coworkers who are not on your contact list can send you instant messages, and you can add them to your contact list.

#### **Before You Begin**

Read the topic on tips for entering text on the phone.

#### Restrictions

- The extension number and nickname fields accept a maximum of 255 characters.
- You can only have one nickname per contact.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Messages.
- **Step 2** Use the Navigation buttons to scroll to and highlight a message.
- Step 3 Press Details.
- Step 4 Press AddCtct.
- **Step 5** Enter the following information:
  - **a.** Enter the extension number for the contact (required).
  - **b.** Enter a nickname for the contact (optional).
- Step 6 Press Submit.

#### **Related Topics**

- Tips for Entering Text on the Phone, page 1-12
- Adding a Contact by User ID, page 2-21
- Adding a Contact by Extension Number, page 2-22
- Viewing Your Contact List, page 2-24

## **Deleting Contacts From Your Contact List**

You can delete individual contacts from your contact list from your phone. If you want to delete all your contacts in one step, you must use the User Options web interface. See the *User Guide for Cisco Unified Presence*.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Contacts.
- **Step 2** Navigate and select a contact.
- Step 3 Press Details.
- **Step 4** Press **Delete** to delete the contact.
- Step 5 Press OK.

#### **Related Topics**

- Viewing Your Contact List, page 2-24
- User Guide for Cisco Unified Presence
   http://www.cisco.com/en/US/products/ps6837/products\_user\_guide\_list.html

# **Viewing Your Contact List**

You can display all contacts on your contact list.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Contacts.
- Step 2 Press Filter.
- **Step 3** Perform one of these actions:
  - Navigate and select **Show all Contacts** to display all your contacts.
  - Navigate and select Show available Contacts to display only those contacts who are currently
    available.
- Step 4 Press Select.
- **Step 5** Press **Exit** to return to the Contact list.
- **Step 6** Press **PgDn** to display additional contacts, and press **PgUp** to display previous contacts.

#### **Related Topics**

Configuring the Contact List Refresh Timer, page 2-25

## **Configuring the Contact List Refresh Timer**

You can modify how frequently you want the contact list to refresh on your phone.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Settings.
- Step 2 Navigate and select Refresh Interval.
- Step 3 Press Select.
- **Step 4** Enter a value (in seconds) from 7-3600 seconds.
- Step 5 Press Submit.

#### **Related Topics**

• Viewing Your Contact List, page 2-24.

# **Displaying the Availability of a Contact**

Using Cisco IP Phone Messenger, you can quickly display the availability of a contact by:

- Telephone
- Video
- Mobile device
- Instant Message



When viewing availability, if your contact is available via phone, you can scroll to highlight a contact and press **Dial** to call the contact rather than send an instant message. However, in Cisco Unified Presence 8.6, the dial back feature only works if the contact is in the same geographic area. If the contact is outside your geographic area, you must dial the contact's extension number.

#### **Procedure**

You can display how many devices each contact has available, their capability (instant messages, phone, video), and the status for each device.

#### **Step 1** Select > **Phone Messenger** > **Contacts**.

The availability status is calculated by the server and displays with these caveats:

- displays when at least one device is available.
- displays if the phone is available, but Cisco IP Phone Messenger is not.
- **Step 2** To view the availability per device, navigate and select a contact.
- Step 3 Press Details.

Displaying the Availability of a Contact



CHAPTER 3

# **Configuring Your Meeting Settings**

#### May 15, 2012

If your organization uses a Microsoft Exchange server, Cisco IP Phone Messenger enables you to receive meeting notifications on your Cisco Unified IP phone, and correlates the status of meetings in your calendar with your availability status in Cisco IP Phone Messenger.

When calendar integration is enabled, meetings scheduled in the Exchange calendar have this impact on your availability status in Cisco IP Phone Messenger:

- Scheduled meetings cause your availability status to indicate as Busy for that time period.
- Meetings marked as Out-of-the-Office cause your availability status to indicate as Away for that time period.
- Meetings marked as Free or Tentative cause your availability status to indicate as Free for that time period.

If your organization uses Cisco Unified MeetingPlace, you can configure it to connect you directly to selected audio meetings, and you will not need to enter any meeting IDs. By viewing and joining your daily audio meetings directly from your phone, you do not need to open your desktop calendar software on your computer. You configure the Cisco Unified MeetingPlace settings using the User Options web interface. See the *User Guide for Cisco Unified Presence* for details.

- Turning On Meeting Notifications, page 3-37
- Displaying Scheduled Meetings and Participants, page 3-38
- Joining Meetings and Scheduling Meeting Callbacks, page 3-38
- Sending and Receiving Meeting Reminders, page 3-39

## **Turning On Meeting Notifications**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Settings.
- Step 2 Navigate and select Meeting Notifications.
- **Step 3** Perform one of these actions:
  - Select **On** to turn on meeting notifications
  - Select Off to turn off meeting notifications

#### Step 4 Press Select.

### **Displaying Scheduled Meetings and Participants**

Using Cisco IP Phone Messenger, you can view an overview of your meetings scheduled for the day and view a list of the meeting invitees.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Today's meetings.
- **Step 2** To view the details about a meeting, perform these actions:
  - a. Navigate and select a meeting.
  - b. Press Details.
  - **c.** Press **Roster** to view a list of the meeting invitees, and the availability status of these invitees.

#### **Related Topics**

- Joining Meetings and Scheduling Meeting Callbacks, page 3-38
- Sending and Receiving Meeting Reminders, page 3-39

## **Joining Meetings and Scheduling Meeting Callbacks**

You can join in-progress or scheduled meetings from your phone. You can also schedule callbacks for meetings later in the day.

#### **Before You Begin**

Turn on meeting notifications.

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Today's meetings.
- **Step 2** Navigate and select the meeting you want to join.
- Step 3 Press Details.
- **Step 4** Perform one of the following actions:
  - Press **Join** to join a current meeting.
  - Press CallBack to schedule a callback for meeting later in the day.

#### **Troubleshooting Tips**

- The **Join** and **CallBack** keys may not be available if you are not associated with a line on the phone. Contact your system administrator if any of these keys are unavailable.
- If your company does not use Cisco Unified MeetingPlace, you will be prompted for the meeting ID
  when you join a meeting.

#### **Related Topics**

- Turning On Meeting Notifications, page 3-37
- Displaying Scheduled Meetings and Participants, page 3-38
- Sending and Receiving Meeting Reminders, page 3-39

# **Sending and Receiving Meeting Reminders**

You can send meeting reminders to individual meeting invitees, or all meeting invitees for a meeting.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Today's meetings.
- **Step 2** Use the Navigation buttons to scroll to select the meeting you want to view.
- Step 3 Press Details.
- Step 4 Press Roster.
- **Step 5** Perform one of these actions:
  - Select the person you want to send a reminder, and press **Remind**.
  - Press RemdAll to send a reminder to all meeting invitees.

#### **Troubleshooting Tips**

 You can join a meeting from a reminder by pressing Join on the reminder that appears on your phone screen. If you are using Cisco Unified MeetingPlace, you will connected to the audio meeting immediately. Otherwise, you must enter the meeting ID on your phone.

#### **Related Topics**

Displaying Scheduled Meetings and Participants, page 3-38

Joining Meetings and Scheduling Meeting Callbacks, page 3-38

Sending and Receiving Meeting Reminders



CHAPTER 4

# **Managing Your Messages**

#### May 15, 2012

Cisco IP Phone Messenger enables you to send and receive instant messages from users who have a valid user ID or extension number within your organization. If you are logged in and available, Cisco IP Phone Messenger automatically displays incoming messages on your phone screen.

- How To View Your Messages, page 4-29
- How To Handle Incoming Messages, page 4-31
- Replying to a Message, page 4-32
- Sending a Message, page 4-32
- Deleting Messages, page 4-33
- Viewing Your Personal Response Messages, page 4-34

### **How To View Your Messages**

- Viewing Your Messages and Message Details, page 4-29
- Turning On PIN Protection to Access Your Messages, page 4-30
- Viewing System Messages, page 4-30

### **Viewing Your Messages and Message Details**

You can view a list of your received messages, and view the content and details of each message.

Your system administrator determines the maximum number of received messages that Cisco IP Phone Messenger stores for you.

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Messages.
- **Step 2** Perform one of these actions:
  - Press **PgDn** to display additional messages.
  - Press **PgUp** to display previous messages.
- **Step 3** Navigate and select a message.

**Step 4** Press **Details** to view more information about the message.

From the Details screen you can view the message content, the timestamp, delete the message, and to add the message sender to your contact list.

#### **Related Topics**

- Turning On PIN Protection to Access Your Messages, page 4-30
- Viewing System Messages, page 4-30
- Replying to a Message, page 4-32

### **Turning On PIN Protection to Access Your Messages**

For increased privacy, you can require that your PIN is entered to access your message list.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Settings.
- Step 2 Navigate and select PIN protection.
- **Step 3** Perform one of these actions:
  - Select **On** to turn on PIN protection to access your messages
  - Select **Off** to turn off PIN protection to access your messages.
- Step 4 Press Select.
- Step 5 Press > Phone Messenger > Messages.
- Step 6 Enter your PIN.
- Step 7 Press Submit.

#### **Related Topics**

- Viewing Your Messages and Message Details, page 4-29
- Viewing System Messages, page 4-30

### **Viewing System Messages**

Your system administrator can send you special broadcast messages, which you can review at a later time. You can view the broadcast messages in the Messages menu on your phone. The sender of a broadcast message is 'cupsystemadmin'.

- **Step 1** Select > **Phone Messenger** > **Messages**.
- Step 2 Navigate to a message from sender 'cupsystemadmin', and select a specific message.

#### Step 3 Press Details.

#### **Troubleshooting Tips**

- If you sign in to Cisco IP Phone Messenger and Cisco Jabber at the same time, you will not receive broadcast messages.
- If you sign in to Cisco IP Phone Messenger and a third-party XMPP client at the same time, but not Cisco Jabber, you will receive broadcast messages.

#### **Related Topics**

• Viewing Your Messages and Message Details, page 4-29

### **How To Handle Incoming Messages**

You can control how you are notified about incoming messages and if you are available to receive them. The message waiting indicator on the handset flashes during an incoming message. You cannot configure this.

- Configuring an Incoming Message Alert, page 4-31
- Preventing Users From Sending You Messages, page 4-31

### **Configuring an Incoming Message Alert**

You can configure your phone to ring when it receives an incoming message.

#### Procedure

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Settings.
- **Step 2** Navigate and select **Audible Alert**.
- **Step 3** Perform one of these actions:
  - Select **On** to turn on the incoming message alert.
  - Select **Off** to turn off the incoming message alert.
- Step 4 Press Select.

#### **Related Topics**

• Preventing Users From Sending You Messages, page 4-31

### **Preventing Users From Sending You Messages**

You can make yourself unavailable so that other users cannot send you messages.

Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Settings.

- **Step 2** Navigate and select **Status**.
- **Step 3** Select any status except:
  - Available
  - Busy but Interruptible
- Step 4 Press Select.

#### **Related Topics**

• Configuring an Incoming Message Alert, page 4-31

### Replying to a Message

You can reply to a received message.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Messages.
- **Step 2** Navigate and select a received message.
- Step 3 Press Details.
- Step 4 Press Reply or Msg.



Note

The Msg softkey only displays if the person who sent the message is on your contact list.

**Step 5** Create a new message or select a personal message template.

#### **Related Topics**

- Tips for Entering Text on the Phone, page 1-12
- Viewing Your Personal Response Messages, page 4-34

#### What To Do Next

Sending a Message, page 4-32

## **Sending a Message**

You can send messages to any coworkers in your organization who are on your contact list. You can create a new message, or send a message from a list of personal (preconfigured) response messages.



When sending or replying to a message, if your contact is available via phone, you can press **Dial** to call the contact rather than send an instant message.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Contact.
- **Step 2** Navigate and select a contact.
- Step 3 Press Details.
- Step 4 Press Msg.
- **Step 5** Perform one of these actions:
  - Press Compose and enter the text message.
  - Scroll and select a personal response message, and press **Select**.
- Step 6 Press Send.
- Step 7 Press OK or Exit.

#### **Related Topics**

- Tips for Entering Text on the Phone, page 1-12
- Viewing Your Personal Response Messages, page 4-34

# **Deleting Messages**

You can delete messages that you no longer need. However, once you delete an instant message, there is no stored copy that you can use to restore the instant message. Make sure you do not need an instant message before you delete it.

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Messages.
- **Step 2** Perform one of these actions:

То	Do This
Delete all messages	Press <b>Del All</b> to delete all your messages. You may have to press <b>more</b> to display this softkey.
Delete an individual message	a. Navigate and select a message.
	b. Press Details.
	<b>c.</b> Press <b>Delete</b> to delete the message.

# **Viewing Your Personal Response Messages**

You create personal response messages using the User Options web interface. See the *User Guide for Cisco Unified Presence* for details.

You can view your personal message templates from your contact list details on your phone.

#### **Procedure**

- Step 1 Select > Phone Messenger > Contact.
- **Step 2** Navigate and select a contact.
- Step 3 Press Details.
- Step 4 Press Msg.

#### **Related Topics**

User Guide for Cisco Unified Presence
 http://www.cisco.com/en/US/products/ps6837/products\_user\_guide\_list.html



CHAPTER 5

# **Troubleshooting Cisco IP Phone Messenger**

#### May 15, 2012

- Error Messages, page 5-43
- Common Issues, page 5-44

# **Error Messages**

Cisco IP Phone Messenger will display error messages if it encounters a problem. See the following table for tips on understanding and resolving these errors.

Error Text	Explanation
Your message to <user id=""> could not be delivered. User may have logged off.</user>	The contact probably signed off just as you were sending the message. Check the availability for the contact and send the message again if they are available.
Due to unavailability of presence services at this time, presence status may not be working correctly. Please notify your system administrator.	Contact your system administrator.
You were trying to access IP Phone Messenger service from a device not provisioned on Cisco Unified Communications Manager server. Please work with your system administrator to get this device configured.	Contact your system administrator.
No UserID matches the extension you entered. Press OK to enter another extension, or Cancel to contact list.	You must enter a valid extension number of a contact within your organization.
Invalid, duplicate, or non-existing contact name.	You must enter a valid extension number of a contact within your organization.
Please contact your administrator to see if the Meeting Notification feature has been configured or not.	The Meeting Notification feature has not been configured on the system.

Error Text	Explanation
Host Not Found	Cisco Unified IP phone is not available. Contact your system administrator for assistance.
You were trying to access a non-existing meeting which may have been deleted from server. Press Exit to go back.	The meeting shown on the Cisco IP Phone Messenger screen does not exist in the mail server. It may have been deleted over time.
You were trying to retrieve a message that had been deleted from the Cisco Unified Presence server. Press Ok or Exit to return to IP Phone Messenger main menu.	If you are signed into more than one phone at a time, you may have deleted a message on one phone, and you are now attempting to view the deleted message on another phone.
Your PIN is invalid. Press Retry to re-enter your PIN.	Your phone has PIN protection enabled, but you have not entered the correct PIN. If you need additional assistance, contact your system administrator to verify your PIN.
Login failed. Your UserID or PIN was invalid. Press Retry to re-enter your UserID and PIN.	Cisco IP Phone Messenger requires that you enter your PIN when signing in. You have entered an incorrect PIN. If you need additional assistance, contact your system administrator to verify your PIN.
Login failed due to server error. Please contact your system administrator.	When using an unassigned phone, Cisco IP Phone Messenger requires that you enter your user ID when signing in. You have entered an incorrect user ID. Verify that you are entering your user ID correctly. If you need additional assistance, contact your system administrator to verify your user ID.
You are currently logged in from other phones. Press Yes to log out of other phones (recommended for security reasons). Press No to leave other phones logged in.	You are attempting to sign into Cisco IP Phone Messenger on more than one phone. Although this is supported, you should be aware that all instant messages will appear on each phone. This might be a privacy concern.
Incoming messages will show on all your other logged-in phones in addition to this phone. Press OK to go to the main menu.	
The calendar server may be down. Please make sure the server is up and running.	The Cisco IP Phone Messenger server could not connect to the meeting server either because the meeting server is down or due to a configuration problem.
Invalid refresh interval. Enter a number between 7 and 3600.	You cannot enter an interval outside the given range (in seconds).
Invalid session timer. Enter a number between 1 and 9999.	You cannot enter an interval outside the given range (in minutes).

# **Common Issues**

- Msg Softkey Unavailable, page 5-45
- Dial Softkey Unavailable, page 5-45

- PIN Request to Access Messages or Settings, page 5-45
- Some Contacts Are Always Unavailable, page 5-45

### Msg Softkey Unavailable

**Problem** The **Msg** softkey is unavailable when I am attempting to send a message to someone on my contact list.

**Solution** The contact has selected a status that does not allow any incoming messages. Check the status of the contact.

#### **Related Topics**

• Displaying the Availability of a Contact, page 2-25

### **Dial Softkey Unavailable**

Problem The Dial softkey is unavailable when I am attempting to call someone on my contact list.

**Solution** The contact has selected a status that does not allow any incoming calls. Check the status of the contact.

#### **Related Topics**

• Displaying the Availability of a Contact, page 2-25

### **PIN Request to Access Messages or Settings**

**Problem** I have to enter my PIN every time I try to access the Messages list or Settings.

Solution You have turned on PIN Protection. You need to turn off this setting.

#### **Related Topics**

• Turning On PIN Protection to Access Your Messages, page 4-30.

### **Some Contacts Are Always Unavailable**

**Problem** Some of my contacts always display as unavailable.

Solution The contacts might have you on a blocked watcher list.



Cisco IP Phone Messenger interacts with Cisco Jabber. If a user is using an unlicensed version of that program, the status of that user always displays as unavailable.

Common Issues